\_\_\_\_

# Appeal No. 24-CO-548



### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

BOBBY JO	OHNSON,
	Appellant,
	V.
UNITED S	TATES OF AMERICA,
	Appellee.
	Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division
	BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

JACLYN S. FRANKFURT

\*LEE R. GOEBES

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 Third Street, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 628-1200

\*Counsel for Oral Argument

### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the trial court err in determining that Appellant Bobby Johnson was subject to the recidivism provisions of D.C. Code § 22-1804a, which increase penalties for defendants who have "previously been convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion," and further defines "convicted of 2 felonies" by stating that "[a] person shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if the person has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions," where Appellant's two priors, although arising from crimes committed on different occasions, were adjudicated on the same occasion as opposed to on separate occasions?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Mr. Johnson was convicted by a jury of aggravated assault while armed and related firearms offenses in this case. (App. 193.)<sup>1</sup> At the time of his initial sentencing, he had three prior convictions: two felony drug convictions imposed at the same court hearing (2000-FEL-002017 and 2000-FEL-004120); and a separate conviction for assault with significant bodily injury (2008-CF2-027158). (App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "(App. \*\*\*)" refers to the number stamped page or pages in Appellant's Limited Appendix, which contains portions of the Record on Appeal. "(5/16/24 at \*\*)" refers to the page or pages from the transcript from the trial court proceeding on May 16, 2024.

192–93.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Johnson to an aggregate sentence of 336 months of incarceration. (App. 193.)

After this sentencing, Mr. Johnson's conviction for assault with significant bodily injury in 2008-CF2-027158 was dismissed with the concession of the government due to *Brady*<sup>2</sup> violations. (App. 017.) Mr. Johnson then filed a D.C. Code § 23-110 motion for resentencing in this case, arguing that the sentence previously imposed was premised—at least in part—on a conviction that had been vacated and resentencing was thus warranted. (App. 001.) Ultimately, the trial court granted the motion and ordered resentencing. (App. 191.)

Prior to that resentencing, the judge addressed whether the recidivism provisions of D.C. Code § 22-1804a were applicable. (App. 202–05; 5/16/24 at 7.) Mr. Johnson argued that Section 22-1804a was inapplicable given that his two remaining prior felonies (drug cases 2000-FEL-002017 and 2000-FEL-004120), while arising from offenses "not committed on the same occasion," gave rise to convictions that were imposed at the same hearing, rather than "on separate occasions," as the statute specified.<sup>3</sup> (App. 003; 5/16/24 at 9–10.) The government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Specifically, Mr. Johnson entered guilty pleas in both 2000-FEL-002017 and 2000-FEL-004120 at the same hearing, on August 24, 2000, and was sentenced in both cases, again at the same hearing, on November 13, 2000. *See* Dockets in 2000-FEL-002017 & 2000-FEL-004120.

contended that Section 22-1804a did apply because Section 1804a merely required that the convictions arise from different crimes. (App. 070.) The trial court rejected Mr. Johnson's argument and ruled that Section 22-1804a applied at the resentencing. (App. 202; 5/16/24 at 7–10.) At the resentencing, the judge imposed an aggregate sentence of 240 months of incarceration. (App. 207; 5/16/24 at 30.)

Mr. Johnson then filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. 208.) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Bobby Johnson was convicted by a jury in this case of: aggravated assault while armed; possession of a firearm during a crime of violence; unlawful possession of a firearm (prior felon); carrying a pistol without a license outside of his home or business; possession of an unregistered firearm; and unlawful possession of ammunition. (App. 193.) In initially sentencing Mr. Johnson,<sup>4</sup> the court had before it Mr. Johnson's three prior convictions: distribution of cocaine in 2000-FEL-004120; possession with intent to distribute cocaine in 2000-FEL-002017; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Johnson was also convicted of mayhem while armed and an attendant possession of a firearm during a crime of violence charge. This Court on direct appeal, however, ruled that those counts merged with the aggravated assault while armed and its attendant possession of a firearm during a crime of violence charge. The sentence recounted above technically was the one initially imposed on remand from the direct appeal (which ultimately did not result in the alteration of time Mr. Johnson actually had to serve).

assault with significant bodily injury in 2008-CF2-027158. (App. 192–93.) The two drug charges arose from different crimes; however, Mr. Johnson entered guilty pleas in the two drug cases on the same day and was sentenced on those cases on the same day. (App. 192.) The court initially sentenced Mr. Johnson to consecutive sentences of: 240 months of incarceration for aggravated assault while armed; sixty months of incarceration for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence; and thirty-six months of incarceration for unlawful possession of firearm. (App. 193.) It imposed concurrent sentences for the remaining firearms and ammunition convictions. (App. 193.) This resulted in an aggregate sentence of 336 months of incarceration. (App. 193.)

Following the initial sentencing in the instant case, Mr. Johnson moved to dismiss one of his prior convictions, 2008-CF2-027158, due to a *Brady* violation. (App. 015.) The government conceded the motion. (App. 017.) On February 25, 2022, then-Chief Judge Anita Josey-Herring granted the motion and dismissed 2008-CF2-027158 due to the government's *Brady* violation. (App. 015–17.)

Mr. Johnson then filed a D.C. Code § 23-110 motion in this case, in which he argued for resentencing due to the vacatur of the assault with significant injury conviction in 2008-CF2-027158. (App. 001.) He made two arguments in support: (1) he deserved resentencing because his prior sentence had been enhanced by the recidivist provision codified D.C. Code § 22-1804a, which no longer should apply

given the dismissal of his conviction in 2008-CF2-027158;<sup>5</sup> and (2) even without the enhancement, his sentence had been premised at least in part on the now-vacated conviction and due process and fundamental fairness thus required resentencing given the dismissal of his conviction in 2008-CF2-027158. (App. 001–12.) The government opposed the motion. (App. 057.)

Ultimately, the court rejected argument one, but agreed with argument two and granted resentencing.<sup>6</sup> It noted that Mr. Johnson had been sentenced based on

(a)(1) If a person is convicted in the District of Columbia of a felony, having previously been convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion, the court may, in lieu of any sentence authorized, impose such greater term of imprisonment as it deems necessary, up to, and including, 30 years.

\*\*\*

(b) For the purposes of this section:

(1) A person shall be considered as having been convicted of a felony if the person was convicted of a felony by a court of (the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories.

\*\*\*

(c)(1) A person shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if the person has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions by courts of the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(1)–(c)(1), states, in relevant part:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As to the first argument, the court noted that Mr. Johnson had previously filed a D.C. Code § 23-110 motion in which he argued that Section 22-1804a should not have applied at his initial sentencing because the government's notice under D.C. Code § 23-111, which requires the government to file an information prior to seeking an enhanced sentence, had been deficient. (App. 195.) The Superior Court (*con't*)

three prior felony convictions, the most serious of which, the assault with significant bodily injury, had since been vacated based upon prosecutorial misconduct. (App. 201.) Concluding that there was, therefore, a "significant possibility that misinformation infected" the prior sentencing decision, the judge held that due process required a resentencing at which the prior felony assault would no longer be considered. (App. 202 (quoting *Bradley v. United States*, 107 A.3d 586 (D.C. 2015).)

Prior to resentencing, the judge addressed whether Section 22-1804a still applied to Mr. Johnson's case. (App. 202.) The parties briefed the issue. Mr. Johnson contended it did not. Specifically, he argued that Section 22-1804a imposes two requirements to apply, each rooted in a separate subsection of the governing statute: (1) he must have committed the prior crimes on separate dates, as subsection (a)(1) requires that the enhancing crimes be ones that were "not committed on the same occasion"; and (2) the *convictions* must have occurred on separate occasions, as subsection (c)(1) states that, "A person shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if the person *has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate* 

and then this Court rejected that claim, ruling that no notice was necessary because Mr. Johnson had not received an enhanced sentence within the meaning of Section 23-111, because his statutory maximum was already thirty-years, which is the maximum sentence allowed by the recidivism provision in any event. (App. 195.) The trial court, pointing to that order, ruled that under the "law of the case" doctrine, it was bound to follow this Court's ruling that Mr. Johnson, at his initial sentencing, had not received an enhanced sentence. (App. 199–200.)

occasions by courts of the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories." D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(1), (c)(1) (emphases added). Although the crimes at issue in his two drug cases (2000-FEL-002017 and 2000-FEL-004120) were committed on separate dates, he had been convicted in both cases at the same hearing; therefore, he argued that Section 22-1804a did not apply. (App. 094–99; 5/16/24 at 9–10.) In its opposition, the government argued that "because defendant's predicate convictions occurred in different cases, he had two prior felonies for which he was convicted 'on separate occasions' despite having been sentenced in each case on the same day." (App. 070.)

In a written opinion, the trial court disagreed with Mr. Johnson and held that he remained eligible for an enhanced sentence under Section 22-1804a at the resentencing. (App. 202.) Specifically, it held that, because Mr. Johnson's prior drug offenses were committed on different occasions, the recidivism statute applied, despite the fact that he pled guilty and was sentenced on the same dates in those cases. The judge thus concluded that Section 22-1804a applied at the resentencing. (App. 205; *see also* 5/16/24 at 7–10.)

In rejecting Mr. Johnson's plain-meaning interpretation of the statute, the court held that the statute was facially ambiguous because, in its view:

Reading the language together "having previously been convicted of 2 prior crimes of violence not committed on the same occasion," § 22-1804a(a)(1), and "has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions by courts of the District of Columbia, any state, or

the United States or its territories," § 22-1804a(c)(1), it is unclear if (c)(1) imposes additional requirements for felonies to be counted separately, or if the subsection is merely to establish that the prior convictions may be from any D.C., state, or a federal charge.

(App. 203–04.)

Given its finding of facial ambiguity, the court then looked to legislative history. (App. 204.) It recognized that this Court had interpreted a prior iteration of the statute to require different sentencing dates. (App. 204–05.) It further noted that the Committee on the Judiciary of the Council of the District of Columbia stated in its report its intention to "maintain[] the current policy of allowing the Court to sentence persons convicted of 3 or more felonies to a greater term of imprisonment [than otherwise] authorized for the offense[.]" (App. 204 (quoting legislative history).) It viewed this as an "intent to maintain the current policy of the statute in general," but believed the legislative history was "silent as to the specific issue" presented, in particular "whether the [Council] intended to maintain or overrule" the controlling interpretation of the prior statute. (App. 204.)

Ultimately, the court focused on what it viewed as the plain meaning of subsection (a)(1), and found that Mr. Johnson, "who was convicted of two felonies, committed months apart, plainly meets the requirement of the statute." (App. 205.) Notably, apart from saying subsection (c)(1) was ambiguous, and noting that a "conviction," which subsection (c)(1) references and a "sentencing," which the prior statute had referenced, are "entirely different events," the court did not construe

subsection (c)(1)'s language that "[a] person shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if the person has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions by courts of the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories." Ultimately, the court thus held that the recidivism provision at Section 22-1804a applied in this case, and ruled that it would apply at the resentencing. (App. 205.) Due to this, the court adjusted Mr. Johnson's Sentencing Guideline box for aggravated assault while armed from 72 to 144 months to 72 to 360 months of incarceration. (App. 5/16/24 at 8–9.) The court then resentenced Mr. Johnson to an aggregate sentence of 240 months of incarceration. (App. 207.) Mr. Johnson thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. 208.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court resentenced Mr. Johnson to 180 months of incarceration for the aggravated assault while armed conviction; sixty months of incarceration for the possession of a firearm during a crime of violence conviction; thirty-six months of incarceration for the unlawful possession of a firearm conviction; thirty-six months of incarceration for the carrying a pistol without a license conviction; one-year of incarceration for the possession of an unregistered firearm conviction; and one-year of incarceration for the unlawful possession of ammunition conviction. (App. 207.) The court imposed the aggravated assault while armed and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence sentences consecutive to each other. (App. 207.) It imposed the other offenses concurrent to each other and to the aggravated assault and to the possession of a firearm during a crime of violence sentences. (App. 207.)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question presented in this appeal is whether Mr. Johnson—who pled guilty and then was sentenced on the same dates with respect to two drug crimes committed on different occasions—qualified at his resentencing in this case as recidivist under D.C. Code § 22-1804a. He plainly did not.

Under Section 22-1804a, a person qualifies as a recidivist if he was "convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion." D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(1). The statute, in subsection (c)(1), further defines the phrase "convicted of 2 felonies": "A person shall be considered as having been *convicted of 2 felonies* if the person has been *convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions.*" D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(1) (emphases added). Section 22-1804a thus imposes two requirements before its recidivism provisions apply: (1) the defendant must have been convicted of two prior felonies not committed on the same occasion; and (2) per the definition of "convicted of 2 felonies" in subsection (c)(1), those two convictions must have occurred "on separate occasions."

Under basic rules of statutory construction, the phrase "convicted . . . twice before on separate occasions" has a plain meaning that this Court must ascribe to it. Although Mr. Johnson had two prior felonies arising from different underlying crimes, those convictions occurred at a singular occasion—namely a Superior Court

sentencing hearing on November 13, 2000.8 Thus, under the plain and ordinary meaning of "convicted . . . twice before on separate occasions" Mr. Johnson did not qualify as a recidivist.

Here there can be no question that the trial court's erroneous conclusion was material to its sentence and that it imposed a greater term of imprisonment "as it deemed necessary," pursuant to the statute. D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(1). It resolved the issue after briefing in a substantial written order, in which it concluded that the enhanced penalty provisions of Section 22-1804a applied. In light of its finding, it adjusted upwardly the box under the Sentencing Guidelines it looked to for guidance in deriving its sentence, and imposed a sentence greater than the unadjusted number for both aggravated assault while armed and carrying a pistol without a license. (5/16/24 at 7, 29.) The legal error, therefore, clearly affected the sentence imposed.

This Court has held that "[m]isinformation or misunderstanding that is materially untrue regarding a prior criminal record, or material false assumptions as to any facts relevant to sentencing, renders the entire sentencing procedure invalid as a violation of due process." *Bradley v. United States*, 107 A.3d 586, 588 (D.C. 2015) (alteration in original) (quoting *United States v. Hamid*, 531 A.2d 628, 644

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Even were this Court to believe that the word "conviction" refers to the entry of the plea as opposed to the sentencing, that would not matter in this case: those too occurred on the same occasion—at the entry of his pleas on August 24, 2000. *See supra* note 3.

(D.C.1987)). This Court should reverse and order that Mr. Johnson be resentenced in a proceeding uninfected by the erroneous belief that Section 22-1804a applies.

#### ARGUMENT

The meaning of a statute is a purely legal question and this Court therefore "review[s] questions of statutory construction de novo." *Wynn v. United States*, 48 A.3d 181, 188 (D.C. 2012); *see also Dist. of Columbia v. Morrissey*, 668 A.2d 792, 796 (D.C. 1995). "The primary and general rule of statutory construction is that the intent of the [legislator] is to be found in the language that [it] has used." *Duvall v. United States*, 676 A.2d 448, 452 (D.C. 1996) (citations and quotations omitted). Thus, in construing a statute, this Court "must first look at the language of the statute by itself to see if the language is plain and admits of no more than one meaning." *Id.* (citations and quotations omitted). This Court "will give effect to the plain meaning of a statute when the language is unambiguous and does not produce an absurd result." *Booze Allen Hamilton Inc. v. Dist. of Columbia Off. of Tax & Revenue*, 308 A.3d 1205, 1209 (D.C. 2024) (citation and quotations omitted).

In this case, the at-issue recidivism statute states, in relevant part:

(a)(1) If a person is convicted in the District of Columbia of a felony, having previously been convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion, the court may, in lieu of any sentence authorized, impose such greater term of imprisonment as it deems necessary, up to, and including, 30 years.

\*\*\*

- (b) For the purposes of this section:
  - (1) A person shall be considered as having been convicted of a felony if the person was convicted of a felony by a court of the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories.

\*\*\*

(c)(1) A person shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if the person has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions by courts of the District of Columbia, any state, or the United States or its territories.

#### D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(1)-(c)(1).

As noted, statutory construction starts—and can often end—with the plain meaning of the words used. *See Booze Allen Hamilton Inc.*, 308 A.3d at 1209. Under subsection (a)(1), the recidivism provision may apply if the defendant has "previously been convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion." Mr. Johnson's two drug crimes were not committed on the same occasion. The issue presented here thus turns on subsection (c)(1), which defines the phrase "convicted of 2 felonies" as used in subsection (a)(1): "A person shall be considered as having been *convicted of 2 felonies* if the person has been convicted of a felony *twice before on separate occasions.*..." D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(1) (emphases added).

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