BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-548

Clerk of the Court Received 01/14/2025 12:17 PM Filed 01/14/2025 12:17 PM

BOBBY JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN VICTORIA BOYLE

- * DYLAN M. ALUISE D.C. Bar # 90018755 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Dylan.Aluise@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2009-CF3-15607

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court in Johnson II already considered Johnson's argument that his prior 336-month sentence was erroneously enhanced under D.C. Code § 22–1804a and held that Johnson had not received an enhanced sentence because each of his sentences complied with the applicable unenhanced statutory penalty. After receiving a reduced and still indisputably legal sentence upon resentencing, Johnson attempts to claim yet again that his now-lower sentence was erroneously enhanced under the exact same statutory scheme. This Court already ruled on and foreclosed that claim in Johnson II. Indeed, to rule in Johnson's favor would require this Court effectively to reverse and overrule Johnson II. Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, this Court should adhere to its prior decision and deny Johnson's claim as procedurally barred.

Beyond that procedural bar, Johnson also fails to state a legally cognizable claim for reversal. This Court has long adhered to the practice of not reviewing legal sentences imposed by trial courts absent narrow exceptions, such as procedural defects. It has also consistently recognized that the Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines are not binding and confer no legal rights on defendants. This Court has thus steadfastly refused to

review claims that a trial court misapplied the Guidelines. It has also flatly rejected arguments, like Johnson's, that a trial court's misapplication of the non-binding Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines could form a procedural error warranting reversal of a legal sentence. Each of Johnson sentences are legal under the applicable unenhanced penal statutes. And, as Johnson II establishes, he did not receive any enhanced punishment. Johnson's claim thus turns solely on the trial court's application of the D.C. Code § 22–1804a enhancement to calculate his Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines range. Because Johnson received a legal sentence and cannot state a claim absent reference to the court's application of the Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines, which confer upon him no legal rights, this Court should follow its well-established precedents to reject his claim on that basis alone.

Even if Johnson could clear those threshold hurdles, his claim is meritless because he qualified for the third-strike felony sentencing enhancement under D.C. Code § 22–1804a(a)(1). That provision states that a defendant is eligible for the enhancement if he "ha[d] previously been convicted of 2 prior felonies not committed on the same occasion." Johnson's prior convictions for offenses committed months apart plainly

fit that criterion. Contrary to Johnson's argument, Subsection (c)(1) of the statute did not render him ineligible for the enhancement. That Subsection separately provides that a defendant "shall be considered as having been convicted of 2 felonies if [he] has been convicted of a felony twice before on separate occasions." Even if Subsection (c)(1) could be read as providing a second set of mandatory criteria for Subsection (a)(1)'s enhancement to apply, it does not follow that "separate occasions" under Subsection (c)(1) must mean "separate dates" of conviction. Rather, as this Court has recognized in interpreting similar statutory language, separate occasions means that there must be some time separate between two acts. That is, the acts cannot occur simultaneously. As here, when a defendant is convicted in two separate cases pursuant to two separate final judgment and commitment orders, he cannot have been convicted in those cases simultaneously. On the other hand, Johnson's interpretation would conflict with the legislative history of the statute, which abolished a sequential sentencing requirement; would produce absurd and arbitrary results not grounded in any legislative or policy rationale; and would contradict state supreme court opinions in other jurisdictions interpreting similar statutory language.

Finally, even if Johnson could establish that the trial court erred in applying the enhancement to calculate his Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines range, it would be harmless. Johnson received a legal sentence that the court found appropriate under the circumstances and his substantive rights could not have been affected by the error because the Guidelines confer no such rights.

ARGUMENT

I. Johnson's Claim is Procedurally Barred by Johnson II and the Law-of-the-Case Doctrine.

In Johnson II, this Court rejected Johnson's claim that his prior 336-month sentence was erroneously enhanced by the trial court's application of the D.C. Code § 22–1804a(a)(1) third-strike felony sentencing enhancement. Id. at 3–4. This Court held that, as a matter of law, Johnson had not received an enhanced sentence under that statute because his sentence complied with the applicable unenhanced statutory penalties. Id. It further found meritless Johnson's claim that the trial court erroneously applied the enhancement to sentence him above the advisory Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines range. Id. at 3–4. Instead, as this Court concluded, there could be no reversable error on that basis because Johnson "was not subject to increased punishment." Id. at 4.

Johnson now claims yet again that his now-reduced sentence was erroneously enhanced by the trial court's alleged misapplication of the exact same sentencing enhancement. That claim is entirely foreclosed by Johnson II. Johnson does not grapple with this binding decision or its obvious conflict with his claim. And, indeed, there is no way to reconcile this Court's holding in Johnson II that Johnson's 336-month sentence was not enhanced by D.C. Code § 22–1804a(a)(1) because it complied with the applicable unenhanced statutes with Johnson's claim that his reduced 240-month sentence was similarly enhanced. There is equally no way to square any claim that the trial court committed reversable error by applying that enhancement to calculate Johnson's non-binding Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines range with this Court's prior holding in Johnson II that this could not be a basis for reversal.

As this Court has long recognized:

[T]he law of the case principle ... precludes reopening questions resolved by an earlier appeal in the same case. ... The general rule is that if the issues were decided, either expressly or by necessary implication, those determinations will be binding on remand and on a subsequent appeal."

In re Baby Boy C., 630 A.2d 670, 678 (D.C. 1993) (cleaned up). The doctrine is limited "only where (1) the first ruling has little or no finality,

or (2) the first ruling is clearly erroneous in light of newly presented facts or a change in substantive law." *Id.* (cleaned up). Absent one of those narrow exceptions, "once the court has decided a point in a case, that point becomes and remains settled unless or until it is reversed or modified by a higher court." *Kritsidinas v. Sheskin*, 411 A.2d 370, 371 (D.C. 1980) (citation omitted). The doctrine imposes a procedural bar that prevents a litigant from asking the Court to reconsider the same question of law that has previously been litigated and "serves the judicial system's need to dispose of cases efficiently by discouraging judge-shopping and multiple attempts to prevail on a single question." *Id.* (cleaned up).

This Court's holding in Johnson II that Johnson did not receive an enhanced sentence and its attendant reasoning control here. It would not be possible to find in Johnson's favor that his reduced 240-month sentence, which falls within all applicable unenhanced statutory ranges, without effectively reversing and overruling Johnson II. The Court cannot, consistent with Johnson II, hold that Johnson's 240-month sentence is enhanced when it previously held that his 336-month sentence could not have been enhanced. It would likewise be impossible to find in Johnson's favor that the trial court erred in considering that

enhancement in calculating the non-binding Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines without similarly reversing and overruling *Johnson II*. This Court's prior decision in *Johnson II* thus squarely settles the claim that Johnson raises in this appeal.

Johnson identifies no exception to the law-of-the-case doctrine that would justify a departure from its procedural bar. If Johnson wanted to seek reversal of Johnson II, the opportunity to do so was through a petition for rehearing and/or rehearing en banc. D.C. Court of Appeals R. 35(c), 40(a)(1). The time for doing so has long since lapsed. Id. Accordingly, the Court should not entertain Johnson's claims which fundamentally conflict with its binding holdings in Johnson II. See In re Baby Boy C., 630 A.2d at 678. And it should reject any invitation from Johnson to issue an opinion that would effectively reverse and overrule Johnson II. See id. ("[W]hen this court has considered an issue of law which is dispositive of the case before it, ... that precedent must be followed unless and until it is overruled by the court en banc") (citing M.A.P. v. Ryan, 285 A.2d 310, 312 (D.C. 1971)).4

⁴ Johnson's failure even to address this obvious procedural barrier in his opening brief should be treated as an abandonment of any such (continued . . .)

II. Johnson Fails to State a Cognizable Claim to Reverse His Legal Sentence Based on an Alleged Misapplication of the Non-Binding Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines.

This jurisdiction has long recognized the principle that trial courts have the exclusive authority to fashion a sentence and that this Court has "no jurisdiction in respect of the exercise of that power, provided it does not exceed the statutory limit." Raymond v. United States, 26 App. D.C. 250, 257 (D.C. Cir. 1905); accord In re L.J., 546 A.2d 429, 434–35 (D.C. 1988) (citations omitted). The 2004 promulgation of the non-binding Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines did not disturb that ancient axiom nor this Court's practice of refusing to review a defendant's legal sentence, absent extremely limited exceptions like cognizable procedural errors. See R.W. v. United States, 958 A.2d 259, 265–68 (D.C. 2008), as amended (Mar. 5, 2009); see also In re L.J., 546 A.2d at 434–35 (citations omitted).

argument. See Bardoff v. United States, 628 A.2d 86, 90 n.8 (D.C. 1993). In particular, Johnson should not be permitted to reveal his argument for the first time in his reply brief, when the government will have no opportunity to respond to it in writing. See Stockard v. Moss, 706 A.2d 561, 566 (D.C. 1997) ("It is the longstanding policy of this court not to consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief.") (cleaned up).

As this Court recognized in *Johnson II*, a sentence is not enhanced under D.C. Code §§ 22–1804a, 23–111, unless it exceeds the maximum unenhanced statutory penalty for that offense. Johnson II at 3–4 (citing Gray v. United States, 147 A.3d 791, 809 (D.C. 2016) for its holding that a defendant's sentence is not enhanced when it falls "within the normal sentencing ranges for [his] offenses"). That holding and reasoning control here and establish that Johnson was not sentenced pursuant to any statutory enhancement. Johnson does not—and cannot—claim on appeal that he received an illegal sentence above the unenhanced statutory maximum for any of his offenses, notwithstanding application of D.C. Code § 22–1804a. And he thus cannot claim, contrary to Johnson II, that he received an enhanced sentence. Indeed, as summarized below, each sentence he received falls within the original, unenhanced statutory sentencing range, and even his aggregate sentence of 20 years falls well below AAWA's individual 30-year cap:

Charge (Count)	May 2024 Sentence	Unenhanced
	(A. 207)	Statutory Maximum
		Sentence
PFCOV (2)	60 months	180 months (<i>60</i> months
		mandatory minimum)
		D.C. Code § 22–4504(b)
AAWA (3)	180 months	360 months

Charge (Count)	May 2024 Sentence	Unenhanced
	(A. 207)	Statutory Maximum
		Sentence
		D.C. Code §§ 22–404.01,
		22-4502(a)(1))
FIP (4)	36 months	120 months (<i>12 months</i>
		mandatory minimum)
		D.C. Code § 22–
		4503(b)(1)
CPWL (8)	36 months	120 months
		D.C. Code § 22–
		4504(a)(2)
UF (9)	12 months	12 months
		D.C. Code §§ 7–2502.01,
		7–2507.06(a)
UA (10)	12 months	12 months
		D.C. Code §§ 7–2506.01,
		7–2507.06(a)

Consistent with this Court's longstanding practice, it should decline to review Johnson's indisputably legal sentence. See, e.g., In re L.J., 546 A.2d at 434–35. And it should reject Johnson's attempt (see Appellant's Brief (Br.) 26–27) to circumvent that prudential practice by claiming that the trial court sentenced him based on misapplying the enhancement to calculate his Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines. While the trial court did use the D.C. Code § 22–1804a enhancement to calculate the applicable Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines—and not the statutory sentencing ranges—that decision is not a basis for reversal, even if potentially

erroneous. See Speaks v. United States, 959 A.2d 712, 717–20 (D.C. 2008); R.W., 958 A.2d at 265–68; see also Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines Manual at H–2 & n. 84 (2023) (explaining Guidelines calculation when D.C. Code § 22–1804a(a)(1) applies). Indeed, this Court reached the same conclusion in Johnson II, which controls here both in its generally applicable reasoning and its binding nature as law of this case. Johnson II at 3–4.

This Court has recognized since the earliest stages of the Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines that a trial court's misunderstanding or misapplication of that non-binding sentencing aid provides no grounds for reversal on appeal. See Speaks, 959 A.2d at 717–20; R.W., 958 A.2d at 265–68. D.C. Code § 3–105 provides both that the Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines are not binding on trial courts and that they "shall not create any legally enforceable rights." Id. § 3–105(a), (c). And, as this Court recognized in Speaks, the impact of D.C. Code § 3–105 is that legal

_

⁵ The Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines themselves also explicitly recognize that "[s]entences under the Guidelines, just like sentences before the Guidelines, are <u>not</u> appealable except when they are unlawful." D.C. Sentencing Commission Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines Manual at 1 & n.4 (2023) (citing D.C. Code § 3–105(c); *Speaks*, 959 A.2d at 717–20; *R.W.*, 958 A.2d at 265–66) (emphasis in original).

sentences cannot be challenged on appeal on the grounds that "they are not compliant with the guidelines." 959 A.2d at 719. Thus, a defendant may not claim on appeal that the trial court erred by imposing a statutorily legal sentence even if based on misapplication of the Guidelines. *Id.* at 717–20; *see R.W.*, 958 A.2d at 265–68. Yet, that is precisely what Johnson attempts to do here by claiming that the trial court erroneously "adjusted upwardly Mr. Johnson's boxes under the Sentencing Guidelines, given its view of the applicability of Section 22-1804a, and selected sentences that fell within that upwardly adjusted range" (Br. 26). That is the exact type of claim foreclosed by D.C. Code § 3–105, *Speaks*, 959 A.2d at 717–20, and *R.W.*, 958 A.2d at 265–68.

Johnson again tries to avoid application of this Court's longstanding practice by attempting to cast his claim as a broader challenge to the trial court's sentencing process and supposed reliance on misinformation (see Br. 26–27). That also fails. To be sure, this Court has recognized that it may review a legal sentence if there was a due-process defect in the sentencing process, such as a trial court fashioning a sentence in reliance on materially inaccurate factual information. See Caldwell v. United States, 595 A.2d 961, 966–67 (D.C. 1991) ("[D]ue

process is violated when the sentencing judge relies on material false assumptions as to any facts relevant to sentencing.") (cleaned up); In re L.J., 546 A.2d at 434-35 (citations omitted); cf. R.W., 958 A.2d at 266 ("[W]e have long followed the rule that sentences within statutory limits are unreviewable aside from constitutional considerations.") (cleaned up). To state a claim for sentencing based on material misinformation, though, an appellant must identify specific "facts or evidence" underlying the trial court's sentencing decision and demonstrate that they are "materially false or unreliable." R.W., 958 A.2d at 267-68 (citations omitted). This rule would, for example, permit a defendant to appeal a sentence if the trial court concluded that he had previously been convicted of a crime for which he was never found guilty. Townsend v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736, 740-41 (1948).

But that is not the case here. The supposed misinformation that Johnson points to is not a materially false factual or evidentiary matter but rather the trial court's alleged misapplication of *accurate* information about Johnson's criminal history to calculate his Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines range (see Br. 11, 26–27). Johnson does not—and cannot—dispute that he was previously convicted of two felonies in Case Nos.

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